Uldaho Law

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

---

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

---

11-29-2018

### Nelson v. Kaufman Appellant's Brief Dckt. 46027

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

### **The Court erred in finding that Defendant was not an independent contractor.**

This portion of Appellant's Brief will discuss how the district court erred in making a finding that the defendant was not an independent contractor due to the Defendants' lack of a showing of evidence to contest Plaintiff's claim that she was an independent contractor. This section will also begin to discuss, factually, who has the power to determine if Defendant was an independent contractor or agent.

### **Apparent authority does not protect Defendant.**

This portion of the Brief will discuss what apparent authority is and why it does not apply to this case or to Defendant.

### **The Court erred by making a finding that an agency relationship existed when it had no power to do so.**

This portion of Appellant's Brief discusses the district court's error as a matter of law in making findings which it had no power or authority to make.

### **The Court erred by construing facts in a light most favorable to the moving party.**

This portion of Appellant's Brief discusses the district court's errors in viewing the facts before it in light of the moving party when the moving party presented no facts.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. On one occasion Plaintiff was using the Anytime Fitness facilities by herself and saw a notice on a whiteboard posted by the office at that location, which advertised a “circuit class” at Anytime Fitness and that a trainer would be teaching the class. (R., p. Aug 1, L. 4-6).
2. The circuit class was put on by Anytime Fitness and it was clear that an instructor would be selected by Anytime Fitness. (R., p. Aug 12 L. 1-4).
3. Plaintiff did not arrange for Stefani Kaufman to instruct the class. (R., p. Aug 2, L. 7-9).
4. The Principal here, Anytime Fitness, has stated that Defendant was never an agent or employee of Anytime Fitness or AT Fitness, LLC. (R., p. 63-64, L. 4, 1-3).
5. The principal here, Anytime Fitness has stated in an affidavit that Defendant was an independent contractor to Anytime Fitness. (R., p. 64, L. 6-7).
6. The principal here, Anytime Fitness has stated in an affidavit that Defendant was paid as an independent contractor, for one task, by Anytime Fitness. (R., p. 64, L. 6-7).
7. Plaintiff attended the class at the date and time noted on the whiteboard. (R., p. Aug 2, L. 10-11).
8. Plaintiff was the only attendee of the class. (R., p. Aug 2, L. 17).
9. Defendant was the only other person present for the class. (R., p. Aug 2, L. 21).
10. Plaintiff followed Defendant’s instructions exactly as she was told. (R., p. Aug 2, L. 22).

11. Defendant directed Plaintiff to the machine. (R., p. Aug 3, L. 7-9)..
12. Defendant directed Plaintiff as to how to hold the handles of the machine. (R., p. Aug 3, L. 2-3).
13. Defendant, having observed that Plaintiff was not able to use the machine properly, changed the configuration of the handles on the machine. (R., p. Aug 3, L. 4-5).
14. Defendant instructed Plaintiff to push down on the machine with the end of the handle in the palm of her hand instead of pushing down with the wide part of the handle. (R., p. Aug 3, L. 4-5).
15. Defendant was in front of Plaintiff directing her movements the entire time she was on the machine. (R., p. Aug 3, L. 6-7).
16. The handles of the machine rotated when pushed, they were not fixed in place. (R., p. Aug 3, L. 8).
17. Defendant instructed Plaintiff how to hold the handles on the machine she was instructed to use. (R., p. Aug 3, L. 9-10).
18. Defendant improperly instructed Plaintiff how to hold the handles on the machine. (R., p. Aug 9, L. 8, p. Aug 9, L. 1-6.)
19. Defendant instructed Plaintiff to push down on the handles, causing her left hand to move sideways, flipping the machine handle over and subsequently striking her left hand. (R., p. Aug 3, L. 11-14).
20. The strike caused a fracture in the metatarsal bone of Plaintiff's left hand. (R., p. Aug 3, L. 11-14).

## INTRODUCTION

This appeal stems from a Personal Injury Case filed in the Seventh Judicial District of Idaho, County of Bonneville. Plaintiff, Amey J. Nelson, alleged that she sustained a fracture to her 5<sup>th</sup> metacarpal bone while following the instruction of Defendant, Stefani Kaufman.

Plaintiff initially sued both Stefani Kaufman and Anytime Fitness. Anytime Fitness defended on the basis of an agreement it had with Amey J. Nelson and submitted an affidavit that it was not liable for the actions of Stefani Kaufman because she was not an agent and that she was an independent contractor. The district court granted summary judgment in favor of Anytime Fitness. This Appeal is not from that judgment.

Defendant Stefani Kaufman then moved for Summary Judgment on Plaintiff's claims. Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment was granted erroneously as a matter of law. Plaintiff filed this Appeal in response to the erroneous judgment by the District Court.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court reviews a grant of summary judgment under the same standard of review the district court originally applied in its ruling. *Conner v. Hodges*, 157 Idaho 19, 23, 333 P.3d 130, 134 (2014) (citing *Arregui v. Gallegos-Main*, 153 Idaho 801, 804, 291 P.3d 1000, 1003 (2012)). Summary judgment is proper "if the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure. 56(a). "When considering whether the evidence in the record shows that there is no genuine issue of material fact, the trial court must liberally construe the facts, and draw all reasonable inferences, in favor of the nonmoving party." *Liberty Bankers Life Ins. Co. v.*



*Witherspoon, Kelley, Davenport & Toole*, P.S., 159 Idaho 679, 685, 365 P.3d 1033, 1039 (2016). The moving party has the burden of establishing there is no genuine issue of material fact. *Wattenbarger v. A.G. Edwards & Sons, Inc.*, 150 Idaho 308, 317, 246 P.3d 961, 970 (2010). “If the moving party has demonstrated the absence of a question of material fact, the burden shifts to the nonmoving party to demonstrate an issue of material fact that will preclude summary judgment.” *Id.* (citations omitted). The nonmoving party must present evidence contradicting that submitted by the movant, and which demonstrates a question of material fact. *Kiebert v. Goss*, 144 Idaho 225, 228, 159 P.3d 862, 865 (2007). However, “[a] mere scintilla of evidence or only slight doubt as to the facts is not sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact for the purposes of summary judgment.” *Wright v. Ada Cnty.*, 160 Idaho 491, 495, 376 P.3d 58, 62 (2016) (citing *Finholt v. Cresto*, 143 Idaho 894, 897, 155 P.3d 695, 698 (2007)). “Both constitutional questions and questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law over which this Court exercises free review.” *Stuart v. State*, 149 Idaho 35, 40, 232 P.3d 813, 818 (2010).

## ARGUMENT

### I. The Court Erred in finding that Defendant was not an Independent Contractor.

An independent contractor is one who, exercising an independent employment, contracts to do a piece of work according to his own methods without being subject to the control of his employer except as to the result of his work. *Goble v. Boise-Payette Lumber Co.*, 38 Idaho 525, 527 (1924); *also* Idaho Code § 72-102(16).

The Idaho Supreme Court has stated that, when there is an issue of status, it is the **principal** who determines whether a worker is an independent contractor or has any other relationship with

the company. In *Chamberlain v. The Amalgamated Sugar Company*, the Court stated that, “A person dealing with an agent should ascertain the extent of his authority from the principal and he cannot rely upon the agent’s statement or assumption of authority, or upon the mere presumption of authority.” *Chamberlain v. The Amalgamated Sugar Company*, 42 Idaho 604, 612 (1926)(emphasis added).

In this case the owner of the company clearly stated in a sworn affidavit that Defendant was an independent contractor and was never an agent or employee of Anytime Fitness. Aug. Pg. 7, L. 1-3; 14-15. There is no other interpretation that can be made considering the evidence in the case, even if all facts were erroneously construed in favor of the moving party. Here, the Court erroneously made the finding that Defendant was an Agent of Anytime Fitness based upon a theory of apparent authority. Tr. P. 78, L. 20-21.

The Idaho Supreme Court has developed a four part test to determine whether a worker is an employee/agent or an independent contractor. The four parts of this test, found in *Shriner v. Rausch*, are: 1) the employer’s control of the worker; 2) the method in which the worker was paid; 3) whether major items of equipment were furnished by employer or worker; 4) and whether either party has the right to terminate the relationship at will. *Shriner v. Rausch*, 141 Idaho 228, 231 (2005).

#### **A. Shriner Factors**

##### **1. Employer’s Control of Worker**

Kaufman was approached by Anytime Fitness to teach a circuit training class (R., p. 63-64, L. 4, 1-3). Kaufman at no time has alleged or indicated that she was employed by Anytime

Fitness either in a full or part-time capacity. It is clear from the record that Kaufman was given ample authority to teach the class how she chose to teach it and at no time did Anytime Fitness exercise any control over Kaufman or her methods, only indicating the results they were interested in. Anytime Fitness's lack of any type of control over how Kaufman performed the singular task she was hired for clearly demonstrates that the nature of Kaufman's employment was that of an independent contractor and not that of an employee/agent.

## **2. The Method of Payment.**

The terms of payment by Anytime Fitness to Kaufman have not been disclosed at this time; however, Defendant bears the burden as the moving party for Summary Judgment to supply specific facts to demonstrate that there is no genuine issue of any material fact in the case. Where there is ambiguity, the evidence is to be liberally construed in favor of the nonmoving party. Without Anytime Fitness providing a clear history of W-2 forms indicating Kaufman's payments as well as indicating that she was in fact an employee on tax forms, her form of payment cannot be construed in any way other than that of an independent contractor.

## **3. Furnishing of Major Items of Equipment.**

There is no dispute that Anytime Fitness furnished the facility and exercise equipment; however, Kaufman's duties did not extend to the requirement that any equipment be provided to her. She was contracted to instruct a circuit training class and instruct patrons of Anytime Fitness how to use the equipment in a manner consistent with circuit training while adhering to her duty of care as a fitness instructor to promote, represent, and practice safety, support, and exercise methodology to enhance the life of their client.

Here, although equipment was furnished to Kaufman by Anytime Fitness, it was not required or necessary for the completion of the task Kaufman was contracted for, and as such, should not be considered in this case to weigh in favor of either an employer- employee relationship or an independent contractor relationship.

**4. Whether either party could terminate the relationship at will.**

Defendant has made no showing that would be any repercussions for either party to terminate their relationship at any time, without cause. Because cause of action would arise from the termination by either party, it is clear that no employer-employee/agent relationship existed between Anytime Fitness and Kaufman. Therefore, the relationship appears to be one of a principal and an independent contractor.

The factors outlined in *Shriner* are a balancing test, which in this case, clearly favors the interpretation that the relationship between Anytime Fitness and Kaufman was that of an independent contractor relationship. Defendant, at the summary judgment stage, had the burden of showing that no question of material fact existed for which a trier of fact could rule in favor of Plaintiff. Defendant did not show, through testimony, deposition, affidavit, or other evidence admissible at trial that the case could not be ruled in Plaintiff's favor. Therefore, Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment should not have been granted.

Agency, actual or apparent, is created by Anytime Fitness, not by Stefani Kaufman's or Amey J. Nelson's statement of belief. Evidence of apparent authority is irrelevant. The question is: was Defendant an actual agent of Anytime Fitness or was Defendant an independent contractor? Defendant has not denied that she has a contract with Anytime Fitness. Plaintiff believes she has

not produced the contract because the contract would spell out that she is an independent contractor and not an agent of Anytime Fitness.

Plaintiffs have shown that Kaufman was not considered an agent, in any capacity, by Anytime Fitness.

Kaufman produced neither her contract from Anytime Fitness nor an affidavit from anyone from Anytime Fitness stating what her status with that company was. Defendant Kaufman has failed to provide any evidence to demonstrate that she was an agent of Anytime Fitness aside from mere speculation and inference drawn from her contracted ability to teach a single class. Defendant Kaufman admits on page three (3) of her Memorandum in Response to Plaintiff's Brief in Support of Motion to Reconsider that "Whether facts sufficient to constitute an agency relationship exist is a question of fact for the jury." (R., p. 122, L. 1-6.)

Defendant Kaufman then fallaciously argued that the burden shifted to the Plaintiff to prove that Kaufman was an independent contractor. Plaintiff must show facts contrary to Defendant's assertions in order to survive summary judgment, but there is no shifting of evidential burden. The burden remains consistently on the Defendant to prove her defense. The Defendant has provided no showing of facts or evidence which could lead to the conclusion that Defendant Kaufman had any legal authority to act for, contract for, order inventory for, or otherwise perform any of the duties given to a legal agent. Defendant has further attempted to claim that a failed argument by Plaintiffs against AT Fitness, LLC., attempting to prove that AT Fitness was liable for the actions of Defendant Kaufman, but that could not be established and is not controlling.

In order for Defendant to be an agent of Anytime Fitness she would need to demonstrate that the principal, Anytime Fitness and AT Fitness, LLC., by Anytime Fitness or AT Fitness LLC., recognized her as an agent. Agency cannot be proven by mere self-declaration. Defendant asserted that she was independently contracted to teach a single class at Anytime Fitness and that this single instance was sufficient to create an agency relationship between herself and Anytime Fitness. Tr. P. 17, L. 7-8.

## **II. Apparent Authority does not protect Defendant.**

"Agency" is not a concept in the abstract. As the Restatement of Agency states:

"Agency is the fiduciary relationship that arises when one person (a "principal") manifests assent to another person (an "agent") that the agent shall act on the principal's behalf and subject to the principal's control, and the agent manifests assent or otherwise consents so to act."

Restatement of the Law, Third: Agency Section 1.01.

Agency is a fiduciary relationship to people with whom the principal acts; his fiduciary responsibility to third parties exists when an agent acts on his behalf. This was stated quite clearly and accurately in Plaintiff's original brief on this matter.

Apparent authority is not a defense to that apparent agent; it is a means for an injured party to hold a principal liable for the actions of the apparent agent.

**Apparent authority is the power held by an agent or other actor to affect a principal's legal relations with third parties when a third party reasonably believes the actor has authority to act on behalf of the principal and that belief is traceable to the principal's manifestations.**

Restatement (Third) Of Agency § 2.03 (2006).

As shown in the Restatement of Agency, the purpose of the doctrine of apparent authority is to determine when a principal is liable for the actions of a person it has hired to do something, when the principal has given a third party reason to believe that person is acting as the agent of the principal. The doctrine has nothing to do with shielding an apparent agent from liability; it has only to do with holding the principal liable for making others believe the apparent agent (who is not a real agent) is acting on behalf of the principal. It is a legal means of protecting plaintiffs from being deceived by persons who are made to believe they are dealing with the principal. It is not an escape hatch for wrongdoing-defendants to absolve themselves for the consequences of their torts.

Apparent authority differs from actual authority. It is created when the principal voluntarily places an agent in such a position that a person of ordinary prudence, conversant with the business usages and the nature of a particular business, is justified in believing that the agent is acting pursuant to existing authority. Apparent authority cannot be created by the acts and statements of the agent alone.

*Am. W. Enters. v. CNH, LLC.*, 155 Idaho 746 (2013)(emphasis added).

The Supreme Court of Idaho recognizes that "apparent authority" is different from "actual authority." There is a difference between a real agent and one acting with apparent authority, and again, this has to do with actions of the principal which bind it to representations made by anyone when the principal made a third party believe that person speaking was speaking on behalf of the principal. "The declarations of an alleged agent made outside the presence of the alleged principal are, of themselves, incompetent to prove agency." *Clark v. Gneiting*, 95 Idaho 10, 12, 501 P.2d 278, 280 (1972), citing *Cupples v. Stanfield*, 35 Idaho 466, (1922). Apparent authority of an agent is determined by acts of the principal not acts of the agent. It is conduct of

principal and not of agent that binds the principal. Declarations of an agent are insufficient to prove the grant of power exercised by him and bind his principal to their parties. *Chamberlain v. Amalgamated Sugar Co.*, 42 Idaho 604, 247 P. 12.

There are no cases allowing "apparent authority" to be used as a shield of liability for persons in the position of Stephanie Kaufman, because that is not what apparent authority is for. All of the subheadings in the Restatement of Agency, 3rd, concerning apparent authority discuss when the principal can be held liable. There is not one which allows a defense for the person claiming to be the agent. See, e.g., RS 3d Agency Sections 2.05, 2.06, 2.07 (Restitution to the 3rd party who relies), 3.02 (estops the principal from escaping restitution to the person made to believe the agent had authority to bind the principal).

The defendant erroneously asserted the doctrine of apparent authority as a shield to escape liability, when no such defense exists in law---anywhere in the nation.

In addition to there being evidence that the Defendant was an independent contractor, Defense counsel erroneously asserted, and the Court erroneously found, that the theory of "apparent authority" could be used as a shield to protect independent contractors from the consequences of their misconduct. The District Court's finding otherwise is a mistake of law, which must be reversed. On remand, the jury should not even be allowed to consider whether the defendant could be considered an agent of Anytime Fitness on the basis of "apparent authority."



**III. The Court Erred by making a finding that an Agency Relationship existed when it had no power to do so.**

"This Court has previously viewed the question of whether an agency relationship exists as a question of fact for the jury to determine." *Id.* at 735 n.2, 366 P.3d at 1095 n.2. But, to be clear, "[w]hether facts sufficient to constitute an agency relationship exist is indeed a question of fact for the jury, however, whether a given set of facts are sufficient to constitute an agency relationship is a question of law appropriate for this Court's consideration." *Id.*

*Forbush v. Sagecrest Multi Family Prop. Owners' Ass'n*, 162 Idaho 317, 330, 396 P.3d 1199, 2033-2034 (Idaho 2017) citing *Humphries v. Becker*, 159 Idaho 728, 735, 366 P.3d 1088, 1095 (2016).

The Court in *Forbush* lays out a two-part analysis. The first step of this analysis is for the Court to determine if the facts before it are sufficient that an agency relationship could exist. The second step is for a jury to decide, based on those facts, if an agency relationship exists.

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