Uldaho Law

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

---

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

---

1-11-2019

### Nelson v. Kaufman Respondent's Brief Dckt. 46027

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

##### **A. The District Court's Grant of Summary Judgment to Kaufman Should be Affirmed Because Nelson Failed to Contest the District Court's Independent Grounds for Granting Summary Judgment.**

Nelson makes the following arguments on appeal, all of which relate to the District Court's findings regarding apparent authority and Kaufman's status as an agent: (1) "The Court erred in finding that Defendant was not an independent contractor"; (2) "Apparent authority does not protect Defendant"; (3) "The Court erred by making a finding that and [sic] agency relationship existed when it had no power to do so"; and (4) "The Court erred by construing facts in a light most favorable to the moving party." (Appellant's Brief, p. 4.) However, Nelson did



not challenge and has provided no argument or authority regarding the District Court's alternative, independent finding that Kaufman had actual/express authority to act as AT Fitness's agent. Moreover, Nelson did not appeal the District Court's findings that the plain language of Nelson's Membership Agreement with AT Fitness contains a general waiver of liability for agents of AT Fitness. (Tr. p. 51, ll. 5-13, "...Does the release agreement bar Nelson's claim against Kaufman? Under the plain language of the membership agreement, Nelson waived liability on behalf of Anytime Fitness and its agents. Therefore, as a matter of law, Nelson's claim against Kaufman is barred. Kaufman's motion for summary judgment should be granted, and the complaint against Kaufman should be dismissed"; Tr. p. 74, ll. 20-22, "B, the membership agreement is a valid contract under which Nelson waived liability of Anytime Fitness agents. And this is addressed in previous decision by the Court."; *see also* R. p. 138, "Under the plain language of the membership agreement, Nelson waived the liability of Anytime Fitness's agents.")

Under Idaho law, "if an appellant fails to contest all of the grounds upon which a district court based its grant of summary judgment, the judgment must be affirmed." *Lee*, 161 Idaho at 550, 388 P.3d at 65 (citing *AED, Inc. v. KDC Investments, LLC*, 155 Idaho 159, 164, 307 P.3d 176, 181 (2013)); *see also Weisel v. Beaver Springs Owners Ass'n, Inc.*, 152 Idaho 519, 524, 272, P.3d 491, 496 (2012).

In *Weisel*, the plaintiff sought to rescind a contract on the ground of mutual mistake. *Id.* The district court granted defendant's motion for summary judgment on two alternative grounds; first, no genuine issue of material fact existed to support a finding that the contract was based on

a mutual mistake of fact and therefore the claim was without merit, and second, that the mutual mistake claim was barred by the statute of limitations. *Id.* at 525, 272 P.3d at 497. On appeal, Weisel's initial appellate brief did not challenge the district court's conclusion that the statute of limitations required dismissal of the mutual mistake claim. *Id.* The Idaho Supreme Court held that because Weisel failed to adequately raise the statute of limitations issue in his initial appellate brief, he waived the matter on appeal. *Id.* at 525–26, 272 P.3d at 497–98 (“an appellant's failure to address an independent ground for a grant of summary judgment is fatal to the appeal.”) (citation omitted). Thus, the Idaho Supreme Court declined to consider the independent ground for the grant of summary judgment.

The District Court granted Kaufman's motion for summary judgment on two independent grounds: (1) the undisputed evidence established that Kaufman had actual/express authority to act as AT Fitness's agent (Tr. p. 49, ll. 5-11; R. p. 140-41); and (2) alternatively, even assuming the undisputed facts did not support a finding that AT Fitness granted Kaufman express authority, AT Fitness granted Kaufman apparent authority to act as its agent in teaching the circuit training class in which Nelson injured her hand. (Tr. p. 49, ll. 12-14; R. p. 140-41.) On appeal, Nelson does not contest the District Court's holding that Kaufman had actual/express authority to act as AT Fitness's agent.

Nelson's failure to address the District Court's holding that Kaufman was an agent of AT Fitness through a grant of express authority is fatal to the appeal because the plain language of the Membership Agreement signed by Nelson contains a general waiver of liability of all agents

of AT Fitness with respect to all injuries to any person arising out of use of any equipment or the AT Fitness facility. (Aug. R. pp. 5-6.)<sup>6</sup>

“If an appellant fails to contest all of the grounds upon which a district court based its grant of summary judgment, the judgment must be affirmed.” *See, e.g., Cuevas v. Barraza*, 155 Idaho 962, 965, 318 P.3d 952, 955 (2014) (quoting *AED, Inc. v. KDC Invs., LLC*, 155 Idaho 159, 164, 307 P.3d 176, 181 (2013); *see also, Lee v. Willow Creek Ranch Estates No. 2 Subdivision Homeowners’ Ass’n, Inc.*, No. 45390, 2018 WL 6188276, at \*4 (Idaho Nov. 28, 2018)). Because Nelson did not challenge the District Court’s ruling pertaining to Kaufman’s status as an agent through express authority, this Court should affirm the District Court’s rulings that Kaufman is an agent and agents are covered by the release of liability in the Membership Agreement. The appeal should be dismissed on this ground alone.

**B. The District Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment on the Ground that Kaufman Was an Agent of AT Fitness Through Apparent Authority and was Therefore Released from Liability Under the Membership Agreement.**

Alternatively, if this Court does not affirm the judgment dismissing the Complaint against Kaufman based on Nelson’s failure to contest on appeal the District Court’s independent ground for dismissing the Complaint, the District Court’s grant of summary judgment to Kaufman can be affirmed on the grounds that Kaufman was AT Fitness’s agent through apparent authority and covered by the release of liability in the Membership Agreement.

---

<sup>6</sup> Nelson has not appealed the District Court’s finding that the plain language of the Membership Agreement is a general waiver of liability of all agents.

**1. The District Court Did Not Find That Kaufman was Not an Independent Contractor.**

Nelson contends that the District Court erred in finding that Kaufman was not an independent contractor. (Appellant’s Brief, p. 8.) The District Court made no finding regarding Kaufman's status as an independent contractor and did not rule that she was not an independent contractor. The District Court ruled instead that it does not matter whether Kaufman is an independent contractor, the material issue is whether she is an agent and her status as one is not determinative of her status as the other. (R. pp. 137-138; Tr. p. 73-74, ll. 16-19.) Specifically, the District Court stated:

She argues Kaufman was an independent contractor and, therefore, the membership agreement's waiver of liability does not apply.

**a. Independent contractor status does not preclude a finding of agency.**

Nelson argues, “the owner of the company clearly stated in a sworn affidavit that [Kaufman] was an independent contractor and was never an agent or employee of Anytime Fitness.”<sup>1</sup> P's Br. at 4 (*citing* Webb Aff. ¶ 7). Nelson’s argument appears to be that an individual cannot simultaneously be an independent contractor and an agent. Nelson believes that if there is a question of fact regarding Kaufman's status as an independent contractor, then there must likewise be a question of fact regarding Kaufman's status as an agent of Anytime Fitness.

Nelson’s premise is faulty. “An independent contractor may or may not be an agent, and serving concurrently as an agent and as an independent contractor is not mutually exclusive.” 41 Am. Jur. 2d Independent Contractors § 2 (notes omitted).

An independent contractor is a person who contracts with another to do something for him but who is not controlled by the other nor subject to the other's right to control with respect to his physical

<sup>1</sup> While the Webb Affidavit states that Kaufman was an independent contractor, Webb does not make any mention of Kaufman's status as an agent.

conduct in the performance of the undertaking. *He may or may not be an agent.*

Restatement (Second) of Agency § 2(3) (1958) (emphasis added). *See also Jones v. HealthSouth Treasure Valley Hosp.*, 147 Idaho 109, 113, 206 P.3d 473, 477 (2009) (finding a hospital may be held liable for the actions of an independent contractor vested with apparent authority).

Whether or not Kaufman is an independent contractor does not determine the question of whether she was Anytime Fitness's agent. Even if Kaufman were an independent contractor, it would not determine her status as an agent.

(R. pp. 137-138.) (Italics in original). The District Court did not commit error in finding that Kaufman was not an independent contractor because it made no such finding. The District Court found that it did not matter whether she was an independent contractor because even if she was that does not determine whether the Membership Agreement's waiver of liability applies. Rather, the issue is whether she was an agent and the court correctly determined she was, both through express and apparent authority.

## **2. The District Court Did Not Err When it Found Kaufman was an Agent Through Apparent Authority.**

“An agent is a person who has been authorized to act on behalf of a principal towards the performance of a specific task or series of tasks.” *Humphries v. Becker*, 159 Idaho 728, 735, 366 P.3d 1088, 1095 (2016), *reh'g denied* (Feb. 23, 2016). “An agency relationship is created through the actions of the principal who either: (1) expressly grants the agent authority to conduct certain actions on his or her behalf; (2) impliedly grants the agent authority to conduct certain actions which are necessary to complete those actions that were expressly authorized; or (3) apparently grants the agent authority to act through conduct towards a third party indicating

that express or implied authority has been granted.” *Humphries*, 159 Idaho at 735, 366 P.3d at 1095.

As referenced above, “express authority” refers to the authority a principal has explicitly granted the agent to act in the principal's name. *American West Enter., Inc. v. CNH, LLC*, 155 Idaho 746, 753, 316 P.3d 662, 669 (2013). “Implied authority refers to that authority which is necessary, usual, and proper to accomplish or perform the express authority delegated to the agent by the principal.” *Id.* Finally, apparent authority “is created when the principal voluntarily places an agent in such a position that a person of ordinary prudence, conversant with the business usages and the nature of a particular business, is justified in believing that the agent is acting pursuant to existing authority.” *Id.*

The doctrine of apparent authority has two essential elements: (1) conduct by the principal that would lead a person to reasonably believe that another person acts on the principal’s behalf; and (2) acceptance of the agent’s service by one who reasonably believes it is rendered on behalf of the principal. *Shatto v. Syringa Surgical Ctr., LLC*, 161 Idaho 127, 133, 384 P.3d 374, 380 (2016).

In this case, AT Fitness’s conduct satisfies the first element of the doctrine of apparent authority: (1) AT Fitness hired Kaufman to teach the circuit training class (R. pp. 63-4, ¶ 2.); (2) AT Fitness’s advertisement for the circuit training class had a picture of Kaufman on it and indicated that Kaufman was an AT Fitness employee (Augmented R. pp. 2-3, ¶¶ 4, 22, 24); (3) AT Fitness paid Kaufman to be the instructor of AT Fitness’s circuit training class (R. p. 64, ¶ 4; Augmented R. p. 4, ¶ 25); and (4) AT Fitness scheduled the times, dates, and location where the

circuit training class would be offered, and therefore, controlled when Kaufman would be AT Fitness's circuit training class instructor. (R. pp. 63-4, ¶¶ 2-3.) These facts are undisputed.

The second element is established by the following: (1) Nelson accepted Kaufman as the AT Fitness instructor for the circuit training class (Augmented R. p. 3, ¶¶ 22, 24); and (2) Nelson reasonably believed Kaufman was teaching the circuit training class on behalf of AT Fitness. (*Id.*) These facts are undisputed. Therefore, the District Court properly determined, as a matter of law, that the given set of facts was sufficient to constitute an agency relationship between Kaufman and AT Fitness at the time of the incident because AT Fitness provided her with apparent authority to act on its behalf (Tr. p. 49, ll. 5-14.)

Nelson's contention that the District Court erred because it had no power to make a finding that an apparent agency relationship existed is incorrect and is contrary to well-settled Idaho law. (Appellant's Brief, p. 16.) Whether facts sufficient to constitute an agency relationship exist is a question of fact for the jury; however, whether a given set of facts are sufficient to constitute an agency relationship is a question of law. *Humphries*, 159 Idaho at 735, 366 P.3d at 1095; *American West*, 155 Idaho at 753, 316 P.3d at 669 (stating the existence of an agency relationship becomes a question of law where the question depends on the construction of a legal instrument). Here, the quantum of evidence (facts) was not disputed, nor were the facts themselves. The District Court correctly ruled, under the second prong that the undisputed facts constituted an apparent agency relationship, which is a question of law.

Based on the uncontroverted evidence relied upon by the District Court when it decided Kaufman's motion for summary judgment, AT Fitness's words and conduct that were directed

towards its members, including Nelson, establish that it provided Kaufman with apparent authority. Significantly, it is undisputed that Nelson reasonably believed that Kaufman had the authority to act on behalf of AT Fitness while she taught the circuit training class. (Augmented R. p. 3, ¶ 22, “With the ad for the class being immediately next to the manager’s office, and the manager having identified Stefani Kaufman as the teacher of that class, and directing me to wait for her, by all appearances it was a class advertised and taught at Anytime Fitness by someone working for Anytime Fitness.”; R. p. 3, ¶ 23, “No one told me Stefani was an “independent contractor.”; R. p. 3, ¶ 24, “I believed Stefanie Kaufman was working for Anytime Fitness, as she was the one teaching their class, for the purpose of familiarizing members of Anytime Fitness with the new Anytime Fitness equipment.”; *see also Jones v. HealthSouth Treasure Valley Hosp.*, 147 Idaho 109, 116, 206 P.3d 473, 480 (2009) (stating a third party who asserts apparent authority is required to prove a reasonable belief that the actor had authority to act on behalf of the principal that is traceable to the principal’s manifestations to the third-party<sup>7</sup>).

**3. The District Court Did Not Erroneously Use Apparent Authority to Shield Kaufman From Liability.**

Apparent authority was not used as a shield to escape liability. Apparent authority was used to establish the relationships between AT Fitness and Kaufman. It is the Membership Agreement, signed by Nelson and found by the District Court to unambiguously release from liability all agents, that "shielded" Kaufman from liability.

---

<sup>7</sup> In *Jones*, the third party asserting apparent authority was the plaintiff.



**4. The District Court Did Not Err by Construing the Facts in Favor of the Moving Party.**

Nelson contends that the District Court erred by “construing the facts in the light most favorable to the moving party.” (Appellant’s Brief, pp. 17 and 19.) Nelson further contends, “[i]n making its erroneous findings, the [District] Court disregarded the evidence presented to it through affidavit and record, and instead adopted the facts that [Kaufman] asserted as argument with no evidence, testimony, or affidavit to allow it to be admitted into the Court.” (Appellant’s Brief, p. 19.) Nelson’s contentions are misguided. (*See* Tr. p. 45, ll. 15-23 and pp. 48-49, ll. 11-4 (District Court’s statements setting forth the applicable standard of review when assessing facts and evidence before ruling on a motion for summary judgment.)

The District Court’s Bench Memorandum sets forth the applicable standard of review as follows: “When assessing a motion for summary judgment, all controverted facts are to be liberally construed in favor of the non-moving party.” (R. p. 135) (citing *Dodge-Farrar v. American Cleaning Services, Co.*, 137 Idaho 838, 54 P.3d 954 (Ct. App. 2002)). Additionally, the facts relied upon by the District Court in finding an agency relationship existed between Kaufman and AT Fitness were not disputed. (Tr. pp. 48-49, ll. 11-4; R. p. 139, “The facts upon which this Court relied to determine the existence of an agency relationship between Kaufman and Anytime Fitness were not disputed.”; *see also* R. p. 142, “The undisputed facts establish Kaufman was an agent of Anytime Fitness in the capacity of a class instructor.”)

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